
Highways Committee

Date Thursday 13 September 2018
Time 11.00 a.m.
Venue Toft Hill Community Centre Toft Hill, Bishop Auckland, 

County Durham, DL14 0JA

Business

Part A

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the meetings held on 11 June and 5 July 2018  (Pages 3 - 

14)
4. Declarations of Interest, if any  
5. Public Footpath No. 39 Evenwood and Barony Parish - Joint Report of 

Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services  (Pages 15 - 44)

6. Application NL43 for Village Green Registration - Romaldkirk, County 
Durham - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services  (Pages 45 
- 182)

7. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
5 September 2018

To: The Members of the Highways Committee

Councillor C Kay (Chairman)
Councillor S Morrison (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors D Bell, H Bennett, G Bleasdale, J Chaplow, J Considine, 
S Dunn, A Gardner, K Hopper, S Hugill, K Liddell, O Milburn, 
P Oliver, R Ormerod, J Rowlandson, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, 
A Simpson, J Turnbull and M Wilson

Contact: Michael Turnbull Tel: 03000 269 714



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Shadforth Village Hall, South Side, 
Shadforth on Monday 11 June 2018 at 11.00 a.m.

Present:

Councillor C Kay in the Chair

Members of the Committee:
Councillors G Bleasdale, S Dunn, S Hugill, O Milburn, S Morrison (Vice-Chairman), 
R Ormerod and M Wilson

1 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Bell, J Chaplow, J Considine, A 
Gardner, K Hopper, K Liddell, P Oliver, J Rowlandson, J Shuttleworth, A Simpson and J 
Turnbull.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute members present.

3 Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on the agenda.

4 Various Roads, Bishop Auckland (Eleven Arches) - Traffic Management Order 
2018

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services regarding an objection received to the Eleven Arches Traffic Management Traffic 
Regulation Order (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Committee were informed of the background to the project. Eleven Arches launched 
the “Kynren” open-air live show in July 2016. It operated on most weekends between July 
and September. One of the planning conditions associated with the event stipulated that 
Eleven Arches should submit a Traffic Management Plan to the County Council prior to the 
first show. This document was subsequently given approval by the council. The plan 
highlighted several key areas on the surrounding highway network that would need to be 
managed and controlled to maintain road safety and minimise congestion. An 
Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO) was introduced in June 2016 to implement 
the recommendations of the plan. 

A proposal was put forward to make the ETRO permanent in 2017. At the time the 
Committee made two recommendations. Firstly, to amend the times so that the Public 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Rights of Way 85 and 86 would be closed between 6 p.m. to midnight and secondly to 
remove the road closure for unclassified road 34.4 between 6 p.m. and midnight.

The Strategic Traffic Manager explained that as changes were required, the ETRO could 
not be made permanent at that point.  It was therefore proposed that a revised permanent 
TRO be produced with a view to making the order permanent.

Statutory consultees had been consulted on proposals to introduce a permanent traffic 
management order to control vehicular and pedestrian traffic associated with the ‘Kynren’ 
event. The order contained the amendments recommended by the previous Highways 
Committee held on 24th July 2017 and the order was formally advertised on site.

One objection to the permanent order had been received. The objection was detailed in 
three parts.

 disturbance and nuisance caused during the operation of Car Park C;
 the diversion route used during the times the A689 was closed; and
 evidence that the posting of the notices during the formal consultation period was 

undertaken in compliance with legislation.

In response, the Strategic Traffic Manager informed the Committee that car park C did not 
form part of the Traffic Regulation Order. The car park had been established with planning 
consent. Any issues regarding noise could be dealt with by the relevant team within the 
Council, should any complaints arise. Notices were placed on site at the correct times.

The Committee were informed that the objector had made further comments by email 
correspondence, prior to the meeting. The email queried where the measurement for the 
nearest dwelling to Car Park C had been taken from and whether it had been measured to 
the entrance. The resident also challenged that Durham County Council was not in a 
position to consider Human Rights and considered that it was for a legal process to 
determine. The Strategic Traffic Manager confirmed that the measurement, whilst 
approximate was scaled from an autocad tile of the area in question. The distance quoted 
was measured from the southern boundary of Car Park C to the northern side of the 
properties on Newton Grange

In terms of the comments relating to Human Rights, the Solicitor advised that the Human 
Rights issue detailed in Appendix 1 of the report had been set out appropriately.

In summary, the Strategic Traffic Manager explained that essentially the Council wished to 
make permanent the TRO. The order had operated well, as had the experimental order.

Councillor S Dunn commented that the order had appeared fit-for-purpose and had 
operated well. Unclassified road 34.4 had previously been a key issue and it was pleasing 
to note that it had operated throughout the event without any issues.

Moved by Councillor S Dunn, Seconded by Councillor O Milburn and

Resolved
That Committee set aside all objections and endorse the proposal to proceed with the 
implementation of the Various Roads, Bishop Auckland (Eleven Arches) Traffic 

Page 4



Management Order 2018, with the final decision to be made by the Corporate Director 
under delegated powers.

5 Public Bridleway No. 12 and Public Footpaths Nos. 13a, 13b and 14 Shadforth 
Parish and Public Footpath No. 20 Haswell Parish - Highways Act 1980 - Public Path 
Diversion, Creation and Extinguishment  Orders

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services regarding an application to divert Public Bridleway No. 12 Shadforth, create 
Public Footpath No. 20 Haswell, and extinguish Public Footpaths Nos. 13a, 13b and part 
of 14 Shadforth (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Access and Rights of Way Team Leader explained that the Committee had 
undertaken a site visit prior to the meeting. A plan had also been circulated that had 
accompanied the submission by the applicant but was not included in the meeting papers.

The Committee were informed of the background to the application submitted by 
representatives of the owners of Hill House Farm. The application was to divert Public 
Bridleway No. 12 away from the vicinity of the farm buildings and intensively used areas, 
to extinguish some of the duplicate public footpaths, and to provide a new public footpath 
no.20 Haswell parish to provide a connection for pedestrians into the public footpath 
network around Ludworth and Haswell. The diversion had been sought in the interests of 
the landowner who wished to improve biosecurity and public safety at their expanding 
agricultural business. The legal framework was also outlined to the Committee.

The Committee then listened to representations made by a representative of the British 
Horse Society (BHS). The representative explained that their organisation would oppose 
diversions where routes exited onto roads. In this case, the diversion of Bridleway No. 12 
would further reduce the overall length of off-road riding routes in the area and decrease 
the network. There were very few off-road routes in the area and it was considered that 
local roads in this area were hazardous for equestrians. 

The BHS felt that there were alternative options for diverting the bridleway or creating new 
bridleways and were of the view that the proposed creation of Footpath No. 20 could be a 
bridleway creation which would ensure the safety of riders away from traffic and improve 
the network of routes in the area for a more 'joined-up' network.

The BHS also felt that the agricultural need for the proposals had not been clearly made. 
They were also disappointed that the council had committed resources to conduct a 
survey some time ago where comments were sought regarding access for horse riders 
and it appeared as though nothing had ever been progressed.

The representative explained that she had ridden through cattle regularly and considered 
that this could be done safely, disputing that the area needed to be fenced off. Reference 
had also been made to resurfacing works taking place to upgrade the surface to a ‘better 
condition’, however, it was queried whether the condition would be better for horse riders.

The BHS wished to use roads less because of the dangers involved. It was felt that 
motorists simply did not slow down, even when vehicles were flagged to do so.

Page 5



The Committee then listened to representations from the applicant. They explained that 
the reasoning behind the application had been explained fully in the report but wished to 
emphasise that Hill House Farm consisted of mixed cattle and livestock and was a hub for 
cattle and pig operations. The farming operation taking place meant that regular cattle 
movements took place with an average stock of 12,500-13,500. The applicant explained 
that the bridleway in question did pose a significant risk for the public and horse riders and 
they considered that public could not be at risk from becoming entangled within livestock 
movements.

The section of the bridleway from the B1283 to Hill House Farm was regularly used for 
livestock movements from the south. This track was not suited for a range of users due to 
very poor visibility both onto the B1283 and along the track itself due to its steep sides, 
sharp corners and distinct surface issues.

The upgrading of footpath 14 to a bridleway to meet the existing bridleway which follows 
round the east of the quarry would overcome the above mentioned safety concerns. This 
would be fenced to 4m wide but would be surfaced with stone and details of surfacing to 
be confirmed with DCC specification, therefore it would be suitable for all users. The 
diverted route and new works would hopefully see more increased usage in the area and 
would be safer for the public.

In terms of the security the applicant explained that the close proximity of the current right 
of way caused significant concern about farm security. In 2014 vehicle tools were stolen. 
CCTV footage of the incident clearly showed that the right of way had been used to access 
the property. More recently a set of gates had been stolen. Ultimately, the change to the 
right of way would be key in making the farm holding more secure. 

Councillor O Milburn thanked the officers for organising a site visit prior to the meeting. 
This had provided a good opportunity to observe key areas of the site.

Councillor S Dunn appreciated why the applicant wished for Bridleway No. 12 to be routed 
further away from the farm, for security reasons and was surprised by how close it was 
located to farming operations. Councillor Dunn accepted that use for horse riders would 
slightly decrease. However, a strategic route would be resurfaced and would provide for a 
safe passage to all interconnecting routes.

Councillor Dunn moved the recommendation detailed in the report. In moving the 
recommendation, Councillor Dunn commented that it was regrettable that the proposal 
could not be agreed by the British Horse Society, on this occasion.

In seconding the proposal, Councillor S Hugill acknowledged the case put forward by the 
landowner in terms of the overall farming operation and could fully appreciate why the 
applicant wanted to secure their property. He added that there would be clear and 
significant danger to the public who may accidentally become entangled within livestock 
movements and agreed with the applicant that the only realistic way of overcoming this 
would be to agree to the proposals contained in the report.

Page 6



Resolved

That the Committee:

(i) agrees to the making of a Diversion and Definitive Map and Statement Modification 
Order under the provisions of Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, and that the 
Order shall subsequently be either confirmed or referred to the Secretary of State 
for determination; 

(ii) agrees to the making of a Creation and Definitive Map and Statement Modification 
Order under the provisions of Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980, and that the 
Order shall subsequently be either confirmed or referred to the Secretary of State 
for determination; and 

(iii) agrees to the making of an Extinguishment and Definitive Map and Statement 
Modification Order under the provisions of Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980, 
and that the Order shall subsequently be either confirmed or referred to the 
Secretary of State for determination.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham 
on Thursday 5 July 2018 at 9.30 a.m.

Present:

Councillor C Kay in the Chair

Members of the Committee
Councillors D Bell, J Considine, S Dunn, S Hugill, O Milburn, S Morrison (Vice-Chairman), 
J Rowlandson, P Sexton, A Simpson, J Turnbull and M Wilson

Also Present
Councillor M McKeon

1 Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors H Bennett, G Bleasdale, A Gardner, 
K Hopper, K Liddell, P Oliver, R Ormerod and J Shuttleworth.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute members present.

3 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 May 2018 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman.

4 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on the agenda.

5 A67 Startforth - 40mph Speed 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services which proposed the relocation of the commencement of a 40mph speed limit on 
the A67, Startforth. The proposal would see the 40mph limit commence 50 metres further 
to the north-east towards Startforth Park where the verges were wider. This would allow 
the carriageway to be widened to accommodate a gateway feature. (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

The Committee were informed that the County Council had already initiated a number of 
road safety measures on the A67 between Bowes and Barnard Castle, with further 
improvements planned in the future. The improvements would be subject to the success of 
a funding bid that the council had submitted through the Department for Transport's (DfT) 

Page 9



£175m Safer Roads fund. The fund was available to address roads that had been 
assessed as a high risk section of road. The area in question fell within one of the 
country’s top 50 high risk areas. Funding had also been made available through the local 
transport plan to support this project.

As part of the overarching road safety project it was proposed to create 30mph and 40mph 
gateway features on the A67 at Startforth. The gateway features would ensure that 
signage was more conspicuous and more visible to motorists with the aim of reducing 
vehicular speeds on the A67.

The Committee then received a presentation which comprised the following:

 location plan of the area;
 40mph proposal; and
 Images of the Bowes Road area.

(for copy see file of Minutes).

No objections had been received from local members. The Senior Committee Services 
Officer informed the Committee that Councillor R Bell was unable to be present at the 
meeting and had sent an email expressing his support for the proposal detailed in 
appendix two of the report.

The Strategic Traffic Manager informed the Committee that the proposals were relatively 
minor in nature, would allow for a more physical, substantial gateway and believed that the 
measures would have more of an impact. 

One objection had been received to the proposal from the neighbouring Barnard Castle 
Town Council. The Town Council felt that the current 40mph speed limit should be 
reduced to 30mph and subsequently the current 30mph speed limit be reduced to 20mph. 
The town council also considered that reducing the speed limit on the outskirts of Barnard 
Castle Town within the Startforth area would reduce traffic speeds through the town 
centre.

The Committee then listened to representations made by the Vice-Chairman of Barnard 
Castle Town Council. The Councillor explained that the area comprised many road 
junctions on a very fast road which served as one of the main feeder routes to the A66 
between Durham and Cumbria. Traffic levels were increasing constantly as a result of new 
housing development with further potential for additional development in the future. 

The Strategic Traffic Manager informed the Committee that the proposals sought to 
decrease vehicle speeds. The speed limit around the estate junctions was typically 30 mph 
which drivers would usually come to expect. Only in exceptional circumstances would a 
20mph speed limit be introduced, providing it was a viable option. In this particular case it 
was considered that a 20mph speed limit would not be a viable solution. The recorded 
‘mean average speed’ on the A67 within the current 30mph speed limit was 33.7mph and 
could not be considered for a 20mph speed limit.

Councillor Rowlandson informed the Committee that he often passed through the location 
and explained that the rural nature of the area meant that the current 40mph speed limit 

Page 10



was difficult to enforce. In relation to the comments made by the representative of Barnard 
Castle Town Council, Councillor Rowlandson felt that the suggestion of a 20mph in the 
area at the point concerned would simply not be enforceable by the authorities.

Councillor Rowlandson expressed his support for the scheme due to the high risk nature of 
the area and given the fact that there was government funding available. He felt that the 
proposal would make a real difference in bringing about reduced vehicle speeds and 
improve highway safety. Councillor Rowlandson moved the recommendation in the report.

In response to a query from Councillor J Turnbull regarding the traffic islands, the Strategic 
Traffic Manager confirmed that whilst the road would be widened, it would have a 
narrowing effect for road users. Councillor Turnbull seconded the recommendation.

Resolved
The Committee unanimously agreed that, having considered the objection, recommended 
that the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services proceed with the Traffic 
Regulation Order to make the speed limit changes as per the plan in Appendix 2 of the 
report.

6 Fishburn Parking and Waiting Restrictions Order 2018 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Service regarding objections received to a consultation concerning a traffic regulation 
order in Fishburn (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Strategic Traffic Manager informed the Committee that the council were committed to 
regularly reviewing traffic regulation orders to ensure that restrictions held within them 
were relevant and appropriate. 

The Committee were informed that in 2013, the crossroads were subject to a road safety 
audit due to the volume of traffic accidents in recent years. There had been five accidents 
in five years prior to the audit taking place with six causalities being involved. The accident 
statistics were sufficient enough to warrant some form of intervention measures. The 
Committee were also informed of the ongoing road safety issues generated by vehicles 
parking on both sides of the road between a stop line and a traffic island.

The Strategic Traffic Manager then provided a presentation to the Committee which 
provided background to the measures previously introduced in the area in 2013. The 
presentation also provided images of some of the road safety issues occurring in the area 
(for copy see file of Minutes).

The affected frontages located on Fishburn crossroads and all statutory consultees had 
been informally consulted on proposals to introduce waiting restrictions on the C26/B1278 
crossroads in November 2017.

Two objections had been received, both from local businesses. The location of one 
business, on the corner of the junction, had proved problematic. One of the objectors 
explained that the introduction of parking restrictions would have a detrimental impact on 
their business by restricting parking for both staff and customers. The other objector felt 
that the restrictions were a waste of taxpayers’ money and that funds should be used to 

Page 11



create additional parking facilities in the village. The objector had been advised that the 
creation of additional parking facilities was outside the scope of the consultation.

As a result of the statutory consultation process, the area Traffic Engineer recommended 
the inclusion of a prohibition of loading as well as waiting to prevent parking (including 
disabled badge parking), boarding/alighting and loading/unloading.

The Committee then listened to representations from a Member of Fishburn Parish 
Council. The Councillor explained that there had been many ‘near misses’ with alarming 
regularity at the location concerned, however, the parish council appreciated that the 
incidents would not be captured during the accident data. The parish council had also 
received constant complaints from local residents and felt that the only solution to the 
problem was the introduction of parking restrictions. Comments regarding the lack of 
parking in the immediate area had been noted, however, there was no vacant land to give 
consideration to the creation of a parking area.

The Strategic Traffic Manager explained that all parties were in agreement that the 
introduction of parking restrictions in the area were long overdue.

Councillor Turnbull moved the recommendation contained in the report and asked if the 
restrictions, if introduced, would be targeted for enforcement given that some road users 
would attempt to ignore the restrictions. In response, the Strategic Traffic Manager 
confirmed that targeted enforcement would take place.

Resolved
That the Committee set aside all objections and endorse the proposal to proceed with the 
implementation of the Fishburn parking and waiting restrictions Order 2018, with the final 
decision to be made by the Corporate Director under delegated powers.

7 Unclassified Petterson Dale, Traffic Calming 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services regarding representations received in respect of a proposed scheme of traffic 
calming speed humps within Petterson Dale housing estate in Coxhoe (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

The Strategic Highways Manager informed the Committee that the estate provided access 
to just under 200 properties and a food store.  Concerns had been expressed by local 
residents of the inappropriate vehicle speeds of motorists and the potential for an incident 
involving one of the many children that cross the road to access properties.

The proposal would see the introduction of five 75mm high round top speed humps 
spanning the width of the carriageway between the kerbs. The humps would be provided 
at suitable spaces to promote and maintain low vehicle speeds.

The Committee then viewed a presentation detailing the following:

 location of Petterson Dale;
 current speeds and accident data; and
 proposed location of traffic calming and road hump locations.

Page 12



(for copy see file of Minutes).

The Strategic Highways Manager informed the Committee that a consultation had been 
undertaken with all affected properties (185) and the statutory consultees. The return rate 
for responses was high with 50% of properties providing a response. Of the responses 
received, 49 (53%) were in favour and 44 (47%) were against the proposals. Some of the 
comments did not refer to the scheme and some comments fell outside the scope of the 
consultation. The objections detailed in the report were summarised for the Committee. 

In terms of the responses made regarding vehicle speeds, the Strategic Highways 
Manager informed the Committee that there had been two slight accidents in 2014. Neither 
incident was speed related.  Any warning signs referring to traffic calming would be 
strategically placed and well away from the frontages of any properties.

Councillor S Dunn, local Councillor placed on record his thanks to local residents for 
engaging and responding to the consultation.  Councillor Dunn explained that the 
development naturally attracted many vehicle movements arising from residents and 
delivery vehicles.  The speed of traffic travelling through the area was of concern and had 
been for a lengthy period of time.

Councillor Dunn also felt that the responses could be grouped into differing categories, 
explaining the importance of distinguishing those responses which were valid objections, 
those which fell outside of the scope of the consultation and those which should not affect 
consideration of the matter.

Councillor M McKeon, one of the other local councillors for the area explained that the 
strength of feeling from local residents on an extremely emotive issue had persuaded her 
to provide financial support towards the scheme.

Councillor J Turnbull whilst not objecting to the scheme, had concerns relating to 
emergency ambulance vehicles having to negotiate a number of full length road humps. 
Councillor Turnbull was aware that certain conditions and injuries made it impossible for 
the ambulance service to transport a patient in an emergency vehicle over road humps.

The Strategic Highways Manager informed the Committee that the road hump design was 
in accordance with national standards and if negotiated correctly, would not cause a 
problem. There was an acceptance that certain illnesses and injuries could have an effect 
on the way a patient was transported, however it was felt that such instances would be few 
and far between. The emergency services also accepted that the Council would install 
road humps which may cause minor difficulties, however, this was balanced with the 
notion that safety for road users and pedestrians was ultimately being improved.

Councillor Milburn seconded the proposal.

Resolved
That having considered the objections, the Committee unanimously agreed to recommend 
the introduction of a traffic calming scheme as detailed in appendix two of the report given 
the proposal would provide an improvement in road safety for local residents.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Highways Committee

13 September 2018

Public Footpath No. 39 Evenwood and 
Barony Parish 

Highways Act 1980
Public Path Diversion Order 

Joint Report of Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services and Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1 To consider an application to divert Public Footpath No. 39 Evenwood and 
Barony.  Under the Council’s Constitution the decision whether or not to make 
the Order rests with the members of this Committee, as the application has 
attracted an objection. 
 

2.0 Background

2.1 Public Footpath No. 39 Evenwood and Barony Parish runs from a point on 
Toft Hill Lane (B6282), running west past the buildings at High Toft Hill farm  
then on to a point on Nettlebed Lane (C32). It forms part of a wider network of 
Public Footpaths in the rural area to the west of Toft Hill.  An extract from the 
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way is shown at Document A. 

2.2     An application was received in May 2018 from Mr Todd of High Toft Hill farm  
          to divert Public Footpath No. 39 away from the vicinity of the farm 
          buildings and farmyard areas.  The diversion is sought in the interests of the 
          landowner, who is planning to construct a number of new agricultural sheds 
          over the next few years and wishes to ensure that a safe and long-term route 
          for the public is provided, minimising any potential conflicts between the public 
          and farm machinery and animals.  

2.3 The proposal would move Footpath 39 from its current location to a more 
southerly route, following the field edge from the eastern end of the path 
round to its junction with Public Footpath no. 38 to the west of the farm.  An 
additional stile would be provided to enable alternative access to and from the 
footpath, as indicated on the proposal plan, shown at Document B. 

2.4    Pre-order consultations have been carried out for this proposal.  The Local 
Members and Evenwood and Barony Parish Council did not raise any 
objections, and the Ramblers Association objected initially but withdrew their 
objection following further discussion.  Any responses are at Document C.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



An objection however was received from the Open Spaces Society, and 
despite further correspondence this objection was maintained.  This 
correspondence can be seen at Document D.

3.0 Legal Framework

3.1 The briefing note at Document E describes the statutory framework. 

3.2 The relevant statutory provision for the diversion of a public path is Section 
119 of the Highways Act 1980.  A Diversion Order can be made by the 
Council if it appears that it is expedient to do so in the interests of the 
owner/occupier of land or in the interests of the public, or both.  In this case 
the Order would be in the interests of the landowner. 

3.3 The Council must also be satisfied in making a Diversion Order that the ends 
of the diverted path are on the same or a connected highway and are 
substantially as convenient to the public as the existing path.  In this case the 
ends of the diverted footpath are on the same highway, and it is argued that 
there is no real loss of convenience for pedestrians as although the diverted 
route would be longer, and involve some loss and gain of altitude, these are 
not significant in the context of a path used for recreational countryside 
walking.  The avoidance of potential conflict and confusion for users in the 
proximity of a working farmyard can also be seen as adding to the 
convenience of walkers.  The provision of an access point onto the diverted 
path adjacent to the road junction helps to balance any inconvenience caused 
by the extra distance.

 3.4 The Council also has a duty to have due regard to the needs of agriculture, 
forestry and the desirability of conserving flora, fauna and geological and 
physiographical features.  In this case the needs of agriculture are relevant, 
as mentioned in paragraph 2.2.

3.5 Before a Diversion Order is confirmed, the Council or the Secretary of State 
must, in addition to considering the above criteria, also be satisfied that the 
path will not be substantially less convenient to the public as a result of the 
diversion, and that confirmation is expedient having regard to the effect of the 
diversion on public enjoyment of the path as a whole, and on land crossed by 
the existing path or to be crossed by the new one.  Footpath  No. 39 is part of 
a wider network of rural footpaths, used primarily for recreational purposes, 
and it is submitted that the public enjoyment of the path as whole would not 
be adversely affected, making the confirmation of an Order expedient.  The 
proposed route of Footpath No. 39 would reduce potential conflict between 
the public and farm vehicles and stock.

3.6   The confirming authority should also have regard to any material provisions of 
the Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP).  The ROWIP for County 
Durham does not make specific reference to proposals of this kind other than 
to state that the Council will ensure that it deals with them in a balanced way 
as required by the legislation described.

3.7   The Council also has to have regard to the Equality Act in terms of the 
structures provided on new routes, and this will be addressed by ensuring that 
the only new stile will be in accordance with BS5709:2018.  

Page 16



4.0     Comments on the objection

4.1    The objection from the Open Spaces Society can be summarised as follows; 
the diversion of Footpath No. 39 is circuitous and inconvenient for the public, 
it is excessive in relation to the area of concentrated agricultural activity; a 
diversion should be sought under the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 in respect of any planned new building; the agricultural 
need for the diversion has not been clearly made; the new path might be 
fenced off and become a narrow corridor, and there is no inconvenience to 
the public in walking close to stock sheds and a working farmyard.

4.2    Correspondence with the objector (at Document D) seeks to address these 
matters, but in overall response to the issues raised by the objector, it can be 
commented that the additional distance resulting from the diversion is not felt 
to be significant in the context of a recreational walk in the countryside.  The 
diversion will add approximately 190 metres to the length of Footpath No. 39.  
The applicant has put forward valid agricultural reasons why it is in his 
interests, and those of the public, to have the footpath away from the area of 
his existing and proposed sheds, given the expanding operations planned for 
this farm.  

4.3    It is accepted that the applicant could apply under s.257 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 for a diversion around a proposed new shed, and 
could repeat that exercise for each subsequent new building as and when 
they come forward.  However, this would result in a less acceptable solution 
given the potential confusion for the public and a route that made a series of 
right-angled turns to get round the buildings, whilst still being in close 
proximity to vehicle and animal activity.

4.4     The applicant has confirmed that he does not intend to enclose the proposed 
route with a fence or other boundary (at Document F)

4.5    Members of the Committee are also reminded that their decisions are on the 
proposal in the application, not any alternative proposal that might be 
suggested and that the applicant is entitled to make and have the Section 119 
application determined.

5.0      Assessment of application

5.1 The Committee must firstly decide whether it appears that, in the interests of 
the landowner, the public, or both, it is expedient that part of Footpath No. 39 
Evenwood and Barony is diverted.

5.2  The applicant has provided a credible case for the diversion, and it is 
considered that the diversion is expedient in the interests of the landowner.

5.3   If the Committee is satisfied that the proposed Diversion Order would be 
expedient in the interests of the landowner, then it should next form a 
judgement on the convenience of the path as a result of the diversion and the 
expediency of the proposals having regard to the effect the diversion would 

Page 17



have on the public’s enjoyment of the path as a whole and on the land 
crossed by the path.

5.4   The new route of the footpath will be away from the farm buildings and 
farmyard area, reducing the risk of any potential conflict with animals or farm 
vehicles, and will be easy to follow around the field edge.  The additional 
distance and change of height are not considered to be significant in the 
context of a country walk.  The additional entrance/exit on the B6282 road is 
considered to be a useful option for walkers.  Given the context and location 
of this footpath it is not felt that the diversion route is substantially less 
convenient, nor would it affect the public’s enjoyment of the path as a whole.

6.0      Recommendations and reasons

6.1   Therefore, for the reasons set out above, it is recommended that the 
Committee agrees to the making of a Diversion and Definitive Map and 
Statement Modification Order under the provisions of Section 119 of the 
Highways Act 1980, and that the Order shall subsequently be either confirmed 
by the Council as an unopposed order or in the event of objection (s), referred 
to the Secretary of State for determination.

Process after making a Diversion Order (for information)

Should Members resolve that an Order be made in accordance with the 
recommendation above, this is merely the start of the legal process.  In 
particular, once an Order is made, it must be publicised and the public will 
have an opportunity to formally object to it.  Should objections be received, 
the Order would have to be referred to the Secretary of State who would 
usually hold a Public Inquiry before making a decision upon whether or not to 
confirm the Order. 

Attached Documents to report

Document A Definitive Map extract
Document B Proposal plan 
Document C Consultation responses
Document D Correspondence with objector
Document E Briefing note
Document F Statement from applicant

Contact: Mike Ogden                             Tel: 03000 265331
                      Neil Carter                                    Tel:    03000 269722

Page 18



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance 
The applicants will meet the costs of the new path and have agreed to pay for the 
costs of the Order.

Staffing 
Not Applicable

Risk 
Not Applicable

Equality and Diversity 
the new still will be in accordance with the relevant British standard

Accommodation 
Not Applicable

Crime and Disorder 
Not Applicable

Human Rights 
The application engages the Applicant’s rights under article 1 of the first protocol of 
the ECHR (peaceful enjoyment of property) and article 8 (right to respect for family, 
private live, home and correspondence.  Article 6 is also engaged (right to a fair 
hearing).  Article 1 and Article 6 are qualified rights which are addressed as part of 
the balancing exercise required by Section 119 of the Highways Act and Article 6 is 
fulfilled by both the Applicant and any objectors being afforded an opportunity to 
make representations and to speak at the Committee meeting as well as for such 
representations to be considered by an independent Inspector should the Order be 
opposed.

Consultation
See paragraph 2.4 of the report

Procurement 
Not applicable

Disability Discrimination Act 
Not Applicable

Legal Implications 
See paragraphs 3.1 – 3.7 of report

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



2
1

39

60

37

2
0

40

41

56

5
8

72

196
1

52

5
7

3
8

4
1

60

37

39

41¯

Scale 1:10,000

This copy has been made by the authority of Durham County Council pursuant
to section 47 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (the Act).
Unless the Act provides a relevant exception to copyright, the copy must not be
copied without the prior written permission of the copyright owner

Access & Rights of Way Team
Regeneration and Local Services
Durham County Council
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
Telephone 03000 265342

Public Rights of Way

Bridleway

v v v
^ ^ ^ Byway

Footpath

3 September
 2018

This is a working copy 
of the Definitive Map

© Crown Copyright and database right 2017. 
Ordnance Survey LA 100049055. 

Definitive Map
 - Evenwood FP 39

Page 21

Michael.Turnbull
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT A



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 23

Michael.Turnbull_1
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT B



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Mike Ogden

From: Cllr Heather Smith

Sent: 18 May 2018 08:47

To: Peter Crinnion

Cc: Cllr Stephen Hugill

Subject: Re: Section 119 Highways Act 1980.  Proposed diversion of footpath 39 Evenwood 

and Barony

Hello Peter 

I have no objections to this change to the footpath which seems very reasonable.  Indeed, if the farmer is planning 

to apply to expand his agricultural buildings it seems to show good foresight to apply for this diversion now. 

many thanks 

Heather 

 

Sent from my iPad 

 

On 17 May 2018, at 16:36, Peter Crinnion <Peter.Crinnion@durham.gov.uk> wrote: 

Hello Councillors, 

We have received an application to divert Footpath number 39 away from the working yard 

area of High Toft Hill Farm.  The current route is close to buildings and areas with regular 

vehicle and animal movements.  The landowner is hoping to expand the farm buildings to 

provide better shelter at lambing time and wants to facilitate any future plans by moving 

the path now to a route away from the working yard area.  I attach a plan showing the 

existing and proposed route which will follow the field edge with access via a stile onto the 

main road at point X.  It will be easier and safer for the public to use, and will help the 

landowner in his safe and efficient management of the farm. 

  

I’d be obliged if you could let me have your comments relating to this diversion application 

within 30 days of the date of this email and on the basis that I have not heard from you by 

Monday 18th June 2018 I will assume you have no objections. If there aren’t any objections, 

the application may be determined by the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation 

with the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services, and if there are objections, 

it will be determined by the Highways Committee. 

  

Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government 

(Access to Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public 

inspection. Additionally they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 

2000.  

  

If you need more time to consider the matter please let me know or should you require any 

further information or consider that a chat would be of help please contact me, my details 

are below. 

  
Regards, Peter. 
  
Peter Crinnion.  

Public Rights of Way Officer, 

Regeneration and Economic Development, 

Durham County Council, 

County Hall, 

Page 25

Michael.Turnbull_2
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT C



2

Durham. 

DH1 5UQ. 

Tel 03000 265339 

  

online Definitive Map (working copy): http://www.durham.gov.uk/definitivemap            

http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow         e-mail: prow@durham.gov.uk 

  

  

<High Toft Hill Farm..pdf> 

Page 26



1

Mike Ogden

From: Etherley Parish Council Etherley Parish Council <etherleypc@btinternet.com>

Sent: 29 June 2018 14:13

To: Peter Crinnion

Subject: Re: Section 119 Highways Act 1980.  Proposed diversion of footpath 39 Evenwood 

and Barony

Hello Peter 

sorry for not responding earlier to your e.mail  - needless to say the Parish Council had not objections to the 

footpath diversion.  For your information there was one small concern raised regarding the diverted path 

going along farm land and would this always be passable (Ie getting overgrown or ploughed).. I  hope I was 

correct in informing members that land owners are duty bound to ensure rights of way are accessible. 

Thanks 

Alison  

----Original message---- 

From : Peter.Crinnion@durham.gov.uk 

Date : 21/05/2018 - 08:19 (GMTDT) 

To : etherleypc@btinternet.com 

Subject : Section 119 Highways Act 1980. Proposed diversion of footpath 39 Evenwood and Barony 

Hello Alison, 

We have received an application to divert Footpath number 39 away from the working yard area of High 

Toft Hill Farm.  The current route is close to buildings and areas with regular vehicle and animal 

movements.  The landowner is hoping to expand the farm buildings to provide better shelter at lambing 

time and wants to facilitate any future plans by moving the path now to a route away from the working 

yard area.  I attach a plan showing the existing and proposed route which will follow the field edge with 

access via a stile onto the main road at point X.  It will be easier and safer for the public to use, and will 

help the landowner in his safe and efficient management of the farm. 

  

I’d be obliged if you could let me have your comments relating to this diversion application within 30 

days of the date of this email and on the basis that I have not heard from you by Monday 18th June 2018 

I will assume you have no objections. If there aren’t any objections, the application may be determined 

by the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 

Local Services, and if there are objections, it will be determined by the Highways Committee. 

  

Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to 

Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally 

they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

  

If you need more time to consider the matter please let me know or should you require any further 

information or consider that a chat would be of help please contact me, my details are below. 

  
Regards, Peter. 
  

  

Peter Crinnion.  

Public Rights of Way Officer, 

Page 27



2

Regeneration and Economic Development, 

Durham County Council, 

County Hall, 

Durham. 

DH1 5UQ. 

Tel 03000 265339 

  

online Definitive Map (working copy): http://www.durham.gov.uk/definitivemap            

http://www.durham.gov.uk/prow         e-mail: prow@durham.gov.uk 

  

  

 

 
 
Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any files transmitted with it are 
confidential and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be unlawful for you to use, share or copy the information, 
if you are not authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake, please inform the person who sent it at the above address and then delete the 
email from your system. Durham County Council takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However, we do not accept 
responsibility for any losses incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus checking procedures. 

 

Page 28



Hello Mike, 
 
This is in relation to the footpath diversion at Toft Hill Farm. 
 
Most of the committee agree that this diversion should be allowed to go 
ahead. However, we must have a guarantee that this footpath would not be 
fenced in either now or at any time in the future. 
 
We would also like to ensure that the original entry gate at the roadside be 
maintained. We notice on the plan that there is a stile marked in the corner of 
the field. Can you explain why this stile is there? Is it to give access to the 
road? Otherwise if there is no fencing there is no need for a stile. 
 
Regards, 
 
Ian Martin. 
Footpath Secretary, Barnard Castle Ramblers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Mike Ogden

From: Mike Ogden

Sent: 29 August 2018 15:21

To: 'Jo Bird'

Cc: Peter Crinnion (Peter.Crinnion@durham.gov.uk)

Subject: RE: Proposed Diversion of FP 39 Evenwood and Barony

Dear Jo, 

 

In response to your comments/observations: 

 

1. I am seeking written confirmation from the applicant that he has no intention to fence alongside the 

proposed route.  You are right that this would not be legally binding but it would be a demonstration of 

goodwill, and we have no reason to doubt his honesty.  I think that a route that follows the edge of a field 

throughout feels more natural than one which diverts around something when already part way into the 

field, but clearly there is a degree of subjectivity as to how individuals feel about such matters. 

 

2. There is some debate as to whether or not the most recent barn obstructs the current alignment of FP 39 or 

not, given the level of accuracy of the mapping, but that was a factor in our consideration that it was better 

for all parties to move the path well away from both current and potential future buildings to avoid any 

doubt in the future.  If the path is obstructed at the moment, the only realistic solution would be a diversion, 

which is what is proposed anyway. 

 

3. See above. 

 

4. We will investigate the obstruction you refer to, and remind the applicant of the legal requirement to avoid 

obstruction of public rights of way.  I do not know the exact circumstances behind the planning permissions 

for previous buildings (one of which would have been granted by the former Teesdale District Council), but I 

don’t think they indicate a lack of respect for public rights of way by the applicant, more a failure in 

communication between planning and rights of way officers in the past.  As stated above, what is proposed 

now is a route that minimises the potential for future conflicts between the path and any aspect of the 

agricultural business, and resolves any current uncertainty.  

 

5. The depiction of the path running through the building in the planning application (DM/18/00113/FPA) was 

due to a misunderstanding between the applicant, his agent and Council officers, and we made clear that it 

was not acceptable.  That is why the application was withdrawn and discussions took place leading to the 

current proposal. 

 

6. I would not expect farm machinery to be blocking the farm track or the Public Footpath, and there will of 

course be some days when the few minutes it takes a walker to pass the area of the buildings and farmyard 

coincide with a lack of agricultural activity.  Nonetheless, there are many times when there are both vehicle 

and animal movements around this area, and the presence of a public footpath creates additional health 

and safety obligations on the farmer.  We also know that many path users find modern farmyards 

intimidating, unpleasant and confusing to navigate.  For this reason we have for many years supported 

applications to remove public rights of way from working farmyards, provided the alternatives are suitable. 

 

7. A farmer will not invest in a building unless they intend to use it, and when it is not used to house livestock it 

will be used to store feed and other materials, requiring vehicle movements delivering and removing items 

from the building. 

 

We would not encourage the retention of a path with buildings either side of it in this location, as the path would be 

likely to become a muddy and generally unpleasant alleyway, exiting into a working area.  It would not be attractive 

for walkers, and would be a safety concern for the applicant. 

Page 31



2

 

I still believe that this is a reasonable proposal to provide long-term certainty and a pleasant walking experience for 

the public.  It enables the applicant to operate his business without the concern of managing public access within 

the farmyard area.  I will be preparing the Committee papers within the next few days, so please let me know at 

your earliest convenience if you wish to withdraw your objection.  You are the only outstanding objector to this 

proposal. 

 

Regards 

 

Mike 

 

Mike Ogden 

Access and Rights of Way Team Leader 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UQ 

 

Direct 03000 265331 

Switchboard 03000 260000 

www.durham.gov.uk 

 

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council 

Follow us on Instagram @durham_county_council 

 

 

 

 

 

From: Jo Bird 

Sent: 24 August 2018 11:13 

To: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Cc: Peter Crinnion <Peter.Crinnion@durham.gov.uk> 

Subject: Re: Proposed Diversion of FP 39 Evenwood and Barony 

 

Dear Mike 

  

I have several observations and comments regarding this application: 

  

1.   With reference to your advising that the current FP 39 has no historic significance is clearly borne out 

by reference to the 2000 Order and plan, which Peter sent to me.  The plan also clearly shows that the 

current definitive route is a more direct route, ie for anyone using the path from the west and continuing 

eastwards into Toft Hill Lane, and perhaps to Toft Hill itself (and vice versa).    The route now being 

proposed, while not significantly longer, is a very indirect route, and following it would have the same 

rather irksome feeling that you consider walkers would experience if walking round a building, or 

buildings, that may be constructed.  There would also be the same possibility of walkers cutting corners 

around the field edge as there would be if walking around buildings.  While the applicant may have stated 

that he would not fence the path to prevent walkers from cutting corners, it is unlikely that there is any 

means of holding him to this in the event that people do stray from the path and damage what appears to 

be permanent grass for cutting for silage or hay. 

Page 32



3

  

2.  The other, more striking point that must be noted is that the 2000 Order map shows FP 39 obstructed 

by what must be a farm building, and this may well have been the reason for the path being diverted at 

that time.   While you state in your email to me, below, “the most recent shed is already very close to the 

legal line of FP 39”, surely the map which forms part of the current proposal is taken from the definitive 

map, and it shows FP 39 obstructed by a farm building.   

  

3.   With regard to this current obstruction, I note from the application details (6/2013/0142 of May 2013, 

for an agricultural building) that it includes correspondence between the Planning Dept and yourselves, 

including discussion with the applicant, after which it was stated that the building would not obstruct the 

right of way (FP 39).  The question now is “why does the building obstruct FP 39?” 

  

4.   With regard to the matter of obstructing rights of way I noted when I walked this path some weeks 

ago, that FP 39 where it continues westwards from the point of its junction with FP 38, had been 

obstructed by a very large mound of muck, with tracks on the ground clearly indicating it had been 

removed from one or more of the buildings, presumably prior to its being spread on the land (which by 

now may have taken place).  While I did not report this problem to your department, you must already be 

aware of the two obstructions by buildings, both mentioned above.  I wonder what action was taken with 

the applicant regarding both of these, and how you would respond to any further such obstruction, and I 

wonder if this includes advice to the applicant that obstructing the highway is a criminal offence? 

  

5.   I am surprised by your stating that the applicant is wishing to keep walkers away from the buildings 

and machinery, as a planning application submitted this year for a livestock building (DM/18/00113/FPA) 

although subsequently withdrawn, includes a plan showing the proposed line of FP 39 actually passing 

through the proposed building.  

  

6.  It is noted both on maps and at the site, that access to the farm and farmhouse is via a good track 

running north/south, and this is crossed by the current definitive FP 39.  There were some items of 

machinery being kept (parked) close to this crossing point, but none of them were obstructing either the 

farm track or FP 39, and there was no evidence that either the farm track or FP 39 were presenting any 

problem for users of either route.  It seems likely that the buildings had been constructed close to the farm 

track for ease of access and that it would not present problems for access to the farmhouse.  If that is so, 

then the question arises as to why the proximity of the farm buildings to the public footpath should be 

considered a problem, for users of the path or for access to the buildings, either now or in the future. 

  

7.  With reference to the Delegated Report relating to the planning application of May 2013, 

(6/2013/0142, for the most recent agricultural building) the Planning Consideration and Assessment 

includes, “The building would not generally be used for accommodation of livestock, except during 

lambing season or unless this is required in the interests of animal welfare”.  It is evident that the buildings 

are not in use during the summer months, and even if use has changed since 2013, they are probably not 

in use for more than six months in any year.  It is hard so see why this amount of use should present a 

problem to users of FP 39. 

  

Considering all these points, and the fact that FP 39 eastwards from the farm access track has a good 

permanent surface, could it be considered please, that the current route of FP 39 be retained, and any 

new farm buildings be constructed further south, leaving a gap for the path between the current buildings 

and any new ones?  This would be similar to many public paths which pass through farmyards or which 

pass farm buildings.   

  

Page 33



4

It should perhaps be noted that if FP 39 had been a minor road with a tarmac surface, there would be no 

consideration of diverting it.  Any new buildings, and any more storage space needed for machinery, would 

simply be provided on the other side of the road, or elsewhere on the farm. 

  

Please would you give this suggestion serious consideration as the present proposal is not at all 

satisfactory, and the Open Spaces Society maintains its objection. 

  

Regards 

  

Jo 

  

Jo Bird 

Open Spaces Society 

Local Correspondent for Teesdale & Wear Valley Districts in Co. Durham 

  

  

  
  
From: Mike Ogden  

Sent: Wednesday, August 1, 2018 3:42 PM 

To: Jo Bird  
Cc: Peter Crinnion  

Subject: Proposed Diversion of FP 39 Evenwood and Barony 

  

Hi Jo, 

  

Peter has passed me your letter of 18 June 2018 in which you objected to the proposed diversion of FP 39 

Evenwood and Barony at High Toft Hill. 

  

I accept that this may look a slightly unusual diversion, and a longer route for anyone using FPs 39 and 37, 

but I would suggest that it needs to be looked at in a wider context.  The applicant is expanding his farm 

and the most recent shed is already very close to the legal line of FP 39, meaning that walkers who follow 

the legal line are in close proximity to animals and machinery and the problems that causes for conditions 

underfoot, particularly in wet weather.  He has a planning application pending for an additional shed, 

having suffered heavy losses of stock last winter due to a lack of shelter.  He could proceed with his 

planning application and seek a diversion of FP 39 under s257 of the Town and Country Planning Act.  That 

would take the path around the south side of the shed and part of the way down the field.  He is then 

likely within a few years to apply for another shed, meaning that the path would need another diversion, 

moving it further down the field.  Walkers approaching from either east or west would be faced by 

buildings ahead of them, before turning south to head down towards the road then north to head back up 

again.  The likelihood would be that people would start to cut corners and take diagonal, and 

indeterminate, lines across the fields to avoid the sharp changes of direction. 

  

Rather than a series of increasingly unwieldy planning diversions, the applicant discussed with us the 

potential to make a larger diversion under s119 of the Highways Act that would give clarity and an easily 

followed route for the public, away from stock, machinery and buildings (now and in the future), and give 

him the flexibility to manage his land and stock for the future.  

  

The proposal would add about 190 metres of walking for anyone travelling between FPs 37 and 38, but in 

the context of a recreational walk in the countryside, which is what this path is used for, that is not a 

particularly significant additional distance. 

  

Page 34



5

The landowner has made it clear that he has absolutely no intention to enclose the proposed route with 

any form of fence or hedge – his only concern is walkers being close to the working sheds and yards. 

  

It should be noted that FP 39 was diverted onto its current alignment in 2000, so the current route has no 

historical significance, and the proposed access near the road junction would be of value to anyone 

walking via FP 21 at Martin Field. 

  

In our view this is a reasonable proposal that provides long-term security for the public and avoids what 

could be a series of piecemeal planning diversions resulting in a route that lacks any logic but still goes 

close to the working area of the farm.   

  

I would be grateful if you could reconsider your position on this matter.  If you maintain your objection, 

then the matter will be considered by the Highways Committee, and I will be recommending that the 

Order is made.  I look forward to hearing from you. 

  

Regards 

  

Mike 

  

Mike Ogden 

Access and Rights of Way Team Leader 

Regeneration and Local Services 

Durham County Council 

County Hall 

Durham 

DH1 5UQ 

  

Direct 03000 265331 

Switchboard 03000 260000 

www.durham.gov.uk 

  

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil 

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil 

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council 

Follow us on Instagram @durham_county_council 

  

 

 
Customer Notice 
 
We have recently updated our terms and conditions for all our services, including making some important updates to our privacy notices. To find 
out more about how we collect, use, share and retain your personal data, visit: www.durham.gov.uk/dataprivacy  
 
 
Help protect our environment by only printing this email if absolutely necessary. The information it contains and any files transmitted with it are confidential 
and are only intended for the person or organisation to whom it is addressed. It may be unlawful for you to use, share or copy the information, if you are not 
authorised to do so. If you receive this email by mistake, please inform the person who sent it at the above address and then delete the email from your 
system. Durham County Council takes reasonable precautions to ensure that its emails are virus free. However, we do not accept responsibility for any 
losses incurred as a result of viruses we might transmit and recommend that you should use your own virus checking procedures. 

Page 35



 
 

This correspondence is from: 
 
Jo Bird 

 
  
 
Peter Crinnion                18th June 2013 
Durham County Council   
 
 
 
Dear Peter 
 
Proposed diversion of FP 39 Evenwood and Barony 
 
The Open Spaces Society (Reg charity no. 1144840, England & Wales, limited company no 
7846516), was founded in 1865 and is Britain’s oldest conservation body.  It campaigns to protect 
common land, village greens, open spaces and public paths, and the right of the public to enjoy them.   
 
Thank you for your email of 21st May regarding the proposed diversion of FP 39, Evenwood and 
Barony, on farmland at High Toft Hill.   
 
I have visited the site and must advise that the Open Spaces Society objects to the proposed 
diversion on the following grounds: 
 

i.  The proposed route is less pleasant than the definitive route as it creates an unnatural detour 
around three sides of an irregular rectangle, making it considerably longer than the direct route of 
the definitive path.  The path in total is a gently curving, pleasant and direct path, and introducing 
abrupt changes of direction would adversely affect its character and the enjoyment of walkers. 
ii. Paths which follow around the inside of two or more field boundaries, in this case three field 
boundaries, feel unnatural and less pleasant, sometimes causing people to stray off the path by 
‘cutting the corners’.  This can result in the occupier of the land erecting a fence, to enclose the 
path which can lead to difficulties for hedge maintenance, and where barbed wire is used, 
problems for walkers to avoid both the barbed wire and overgrown hedges.  
iii. The eastern section of the path between the road (Toft Hill Lane) and the entrance track to the 
farm of High Toft Hill is an attractive and pleasant, wide, permanent, grassy track and this would 
be lost under the present proposals. 

 
We note the proposed provision of a stile to give direct access from the proposed route to the road 
leading to Ramshaw.  However, there is good and safe access to this road now by using the wide 
grass verge from the eastern end of the path.    
 
We noted that there was a number of items of farm machinery parked close to where the path 
crosses the farm access track, but they did not cause any problem or danger, and neither did a 

Page 36



 
 

passing tractor.  Visibility was clear. Walkers everywhere have regard to traffic of all kinds whether on 
or off roads, and would need to take no less care in crossing the access track where it leads onto the 
road if the path were to be diverted to the proposed location. In fact there could be greater risk from 
traffic turning onto the track from the road as there could easily be less awareness by either user, of 
the presence of the other. 
 
We note that a short length of the definitive path has been obstructed by the most recently 
constructed farm building, and are puzzled as to how this happened.  We also note that there are 
proposals to erect a further building.  We suggest that the time to consider the diversion of FP39 
would be once plans have been prepared, or submitted, so that any diversion could enable the path 
to remain as close to its historic line as is reasonably practical.  
 
We ask you, please, to take note of our comments and hope that the suggestion regarding timing for 
consideration of a diversion will be acceptable.   
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Jo Bird 

 
 
Jo Bird 
Open Spaces Society, Local Correspondent for Teesdale & Wear Valley Districts in Co Durham  
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 
PATH ORDER INFORMATION 

 
Procedure for public path orders 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39

Michael.Turnbull_3
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT E



 2 

 
CONURRENT PATH ORDERS ie WHEN DOING A MIX OF 

CREATION AND/OR DIVERSION AND/OR EXTINGUISHMENT 
 
Note that when considering a creation or diversion order, made in association 
with an extinguishment order the extent to which the proposed path/s would 
provide an alternative to that proposed for extinguishment may be taken in to 
consideration in determining whether or not to confirm the extinguishment 
order.  Account should be taken of the convenience of the alternative path 
compared to that which is to be extinguished and if this is significantly less 
than that enjoyed by users of the existing path.  Full consideration should be 
given to the matters set out in all the relevant sections of the Highways Act 
1980 (described below). 

 
 

CREATION OF FOOTPATHS AND BRIDLEWAYS – SECTION 26 OF THE 
HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 

 
Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980 provides a power for the Council to 
create footpaths or bridleways.   
 
The Council may make an Order where it is considered a need for the path 
but having regard to the extent to which the path would add to the 
convenience or enjoyment of a substantial section of the public, or to the 
convenience of persons resident in the area and the extent the creation would 
have on the rights of those with a legal interest in the land (eg ownership). 
 
Consideration must also be given to the interests of forestry and agriculture, 
and the effect, if any, the creation of the path will have on these activities. 
However, authorities may decide that any effects may be compensated for. 

The Highways Act provides for the payment by the order making authority of 
compensation.  In some cases authorities have been able to agree with the 
landowner a sum for compensation before an order is confirmed. However, 
this is not always possible. If a dispute arises as to compensation, it is 
determined by the Lands Tribunal after the order has been confirmed. 

 
EXTINGUISHMENT OF FOOTPATH AND BRIDLEWAYS –  

SECTION 118 HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 
 
Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980 provides a power for the Council to 
extinguish footpaths and bridleways. 
 
The Council may only make a Public Path Extinguishment Order where it 
appears that: 

It is expedient that the path or way should be stopped up on the 
ground that it is not needed for public use (Section 118(1)). 
 

Page 40

http://www.iprow.co.uk/gpg/index.php/Compensation


 3 

The Council (or the Secretary of State if the Order is opposed) shall not 
confirm a Public Path Extinguishment Order unless it is satisfied that: 
 
 It is expedient so to do having regard to: 

(i) The extent (if any) to which it appears that the path or way 
would, apart from the Order, be likely to be used by the public, 
and 

 
(ii) The effect which the extinguishment of the right of way would 

have as respects land served by the path or way, account 
being taken of the provisions as to compensation (Section 
118(2)). 

 
When considering either the making or the confirmation of a Public Path 
Extinguishment Order the Council (or the Secretary of State as the case may 
be) may have regard to the extent to which any Public Path Creation Order, 
Public Path Diversion Order or Rail Crossing Diversion Order being 
considered concurrently would provide an alternative path or way (Section 
118(5)). 
 
When considering whether or not to make a Public Path Extinguishment 
Order the Council must also have due regard to the needs of agriculture and 
forestry and the desirability of conserving flora, fauna, and geological and 
physiographical features (Section 29 Highways Act 1980). 
 

 

DIVERSION OF FOOTPATH AND BRIDLEWAYS –  
SECTION 119 HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 

 

Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 gives a discretionary power to the 

Council to divert a public path.  A “Diversion Order” has the effect of 
extinguishing a path or length of path and creating an alternative path 

simultaneously. 
 
The Council may make an Order where it appears to the Council that it is 
expedient to do so:- 

(i)             in the interests of the owner, lessee or occupier of the land 
crossed by the path;  and/or 

(ii)             in the interests of the public 
 
A Diversion Order shall not alter a point of termination of a path except to 
another point on the same highway or one connected with it and which is 

substantially as convenient to the public. 
 
The Council (or the Secretary of State if the Order is opposed) may not 
confirm a Diversion Order unless satisfied that above criteria are met and 

that the path or way will not be substantially less convenient to the public as 

a result of the diversion and that it is expedient to confirm the Order having 

regard to the effect which:- 
 

Page 41



 4 

(i)              the diversion would have on the public enjoyment of the path as 
a whole: 
(ii)              the diversion would have on land served by the existing path, 
and 
(iii)             the new path would have on land over which the right of way is 
to be created. 
 
A path which is diverted from land owned by one person onto land owned 
by another person may give rise to claims for compensation and this can be 
taken into account when considering points (ii) and (iii) above. 
 
The Council may require an applicant (or joint applicants) to defray or make 
a contribution to:- 
 
(i)              any compensation payable; 
(ii)              any expense to the Council in facilitating the convenient exercise 
of any new path. 
 
In making a Diversion Order the Council is required under Section 29 and 

121(3) of the Act to have due regard to the needs of agriculture, forestry 

and the desirability of conserving flora, fauna and geological and 
physiographical features.  The Council is also required, under the 

Countryside Act 1968 to have regard to the desirability of conserving the 
natural beauty and amenity of the countryside. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 42



From: Catherine Todd 

Sent: 03 September 2018 12:40 

To: Mike Ogden <Mike.Ogden@durham.gov.uk> 

Subject: Re: Public Footpath No 39 Evenwood - proposed diversion 

 

Hi Mike, 

  

I wish to confirm, in writing as requested, that we have no intention of fencing off the 

footpath now or in the future. 

  

Regards 

Richard (R&W Todd) 

 

Page 43

Michael.Turnbull_4
Typewritten text
DOCUMENT F



This page is intentionally left blank



Highways Committee

13 September 2018

Application NL43 for Village Green 
Registration 
Romaldkirk, County Durham

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

Introduction

1. The Council is the registration authority for Town and Village Greens under 
the Commons Registration Act 1965 and the Commons Act 2006 and the 
function of determining TVG applications falls to the Highways Committee 
under the Council’s Constitution.  The Council must act impartially in its 
determination.

Purpose of the Report & Background

2. To advise the Committee in determining an application to register land at 
Romaldkirk, as Town or Village Green, under the provisions of the Commons 
Act 2006.

3. The application was made by Romaldkirk Parish Council, acting through its 
chair, Lesley Cutting (the Applicant).  A copy of the application, excluding the 
supporting user evidence, is attached at Appendix 1 (the Application).  The 
Application was dated 11 September 2016 and was accompanied by a plan 
showing the area claimed as town or village green (the Application Land) as 
well as 2 statements in support from users of the claimed TVG. The 
Application Land is shown edged and hatched in red at Appendix 2. The 
Application was given the reference number NL43 by the Council.

4. A copy of all of the user evidence submitted in support of the application is 
attached at Appendix 3.  

5. As required by Regulations, Notice of the application was published on the 
Council’s website and in the Teesdale Mercury newspaper and a site notice 
was also erected.  

6. Notice of the application was also given to the owner of the land subject of the 
application and a copy of the Application was also placed on deposit with 
Romaldkirk Parish Council, for public access.

7. Following publication of the notice of the application, five objection letters 
were received. Copies of the letters of objection are attached at Appendix 4.  

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



8.  The Applicant was given an opportunity to comment upon the objections 
received and on 19 February 2017 10 further letters in support of the 
Application were submitted. Copies of these letters are attached at Appendix 
5.

10. On 11 May 2018 and 2 July 2018, the solicitor acting on behalf of the 
Commons Registration Authority wrote to both the Applicant and the 
occupants of the property adjacent to the Application Land. The letters 
expressed concerns in respect of the use of the Application Land and invited 
further representations, particularly in respect of the effect of a Deed dated 4th 
September 1930 made under the provisions of section 193 of the Law of 
Property Act 1925. There was a lack of clarity in respect of the status of the 
Application Land and in particular whether the Application Land was used ‘as 
of right’ or ‘by right’. Copies of these letters are attached at Appendix 6 and 
the 1930 Deed is attached at Appendix 7.

11. On 27 July 2018 the Applicant submitted 10 further statements in support of 
the Application together with an Opinion from a barrister responding to the 
issues raised in the letters. Copies of the further statements are attached at 
Appendix 8 and the Counsel’s Opinion is attached at Appendix 9.

12. A Non-Statutory Public Inquiry is usually necessary where the evidence needs 
to be tested by cross examination or where there are significant legal issues 
in dispute.   

13. The decision on this application is a matter for this Committee. However, in 
this case, it is felt that there are sufficient areas of dispute in terms of the 
extent of the use of the Application Site to require a Non-Statutory Public 
Inquiry to test the evidence in order to assist the Committee in the 
determination of the Application. A Non-Statutory Public Inquiry is also 
recommended given the complex legal issues surrounding the status of the 
land arising from the 1930 Deed. 

The Law

The Commons Act 2006

14. Village greens which were not registered as such by 31 July 1970 ceased to 
be village greens and can only now gain that status through registration under 
the current statutory provisions.  Registration brings about general 
recreational rights and other statutory protection which effectively precludes 
further development of the site.

15. The Commons Act 2006 is the statutory regime governing village greens and 
Section 15 of the Act sets out the requirements which must be met if the 
Application Land is to be registered.  Registration of village greens is 
determined by the Council who are the Commons Registration Authority and 
the process of determination of any application is focused on whether a 
village green has come into existence as a matter of law.

Page 46



16. The Application was made under section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 
which states that:

“A person may apply to the Commons Registration Authority to register land 
as a town or village green if subsection 2 applies.”  

Subsection 2 states that: 

“a Village Green has come into existence where:

(a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports or pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) They continue to do so at the time of the application.”

17. The definition in Section 15 can therefore be broken down into the following 
six elements:

17.1 ”…a significant number…” – Significant does not necessarily mean substantial 
or considerable in number.  It is necessary to show a general use by the local 
community as opposed to mere occasional use by trespassers.  That is not 
assessed by a simple headcount of users.  There is no need for an applicant 
to demonstrate a geographical spread of users within the locality.

17.2 “…of the inhabitants of any locality…” – This is not defined by any arbitrary 
margins but must be a recognised county division such as a borough, parish 
or manor, therefore an ecclesiastical parish can be a locality as required by 
section 15(2).  It is acceptable for the users to come “predominantly” from the 
locality.

17.3 “…or any neighbourhood within a locality…” –  A neighbourhood must be 
clearly defined and have a sufficient cohesiveness.  It must also be within a 
locality. 

17.4 “…have indulged as of right…” – Use “as of right” is use without permission, 
secrecy or by force.  The key issue in user ‘as of right’ is not the subjective 
intentions of the users but how the use of the land would appear, objectively, 
to the land owner.  Use is “as of right” if it would appear to the reasonable 
landowner to be an assertion of a right.  Permission by the land owner, 
perhaps in the form of a notice on the land, would mean that the use is not as 
of right.  Equally, use by force, such as where the user climbs over a fence or 
other enclosure to gain access to the land would not be use as of right.  An 
example of a secret use could be where the use takes place exclusively under 
the cover of darkness such that it would not be reasonable to expect a 
landowner to become aware of it.  

17.5 “…in lawful sports and pastimes on the land…” – This is very broadly 
interpreted so that general recreational use including walking with or without 

Page 47



dogs, children’s play, playing games, picknicking, camping etc would all be 
included.  However, it is important to distinguish mere use or assertion of a 
public right of way from use for lawful sports and pastimes. The Courts have 
said that if use could give rise to a public right of way, then whether it should 
be regarded as mere use/assertion of a public right of way or a qualifying 
lawful sport/pastime will depend upon how such use would have appeared to 
a reasonable landowner.  Where the position is ambiguous then it should 
count as a public right of way use as the less onerous right.

17.6 “…for a period of at least 20 years…” – The fulfilment of the 20 years 
continuous use must immediately precede the date of the application. 

18. The Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 introduced the concept of trigger and 
terminating events.  The purpose of these is to prevent a TVG application 
where land has been identified for potential development in the planning 
system.  A trigger event would therefore operate to prevent a TVG application 
from being made where certain events in connection with development of land 
have occurred unless and until there is a corresponding terminating event, 
thereby restoring the ability to make an application.  These trigger and 
terminating events are set out in Schedule 1A to the Commons Act 2006.  For 
example, trigger events include publication of an application for planning 
permission and draft allocation of land in a local plan or neighbourhood plan 
as well as adoption of that plan.  Terminating events include withdrawal of the 
planning application/plan, refusal and expiry of the planning permission. In 
this instance, there are not considered to be any relevant trigger events. 

Burden and Standard of Proof

19. In order for an application to be successful each aspect of the requirements of 
section 15(2) must be strictly proven and the burden of proof in this regard is 
firmly upon the Applicant.  The standard of proof to be applied is ‘on the 
balance of probabilities.’  Therefore the Applicant must demonstrate that all 
the elements contained in the definition of a Village Green in section 15(2) of 
the Act have been satisfied.

20. It is instructive when deciding if an applicant has discharged the burden of 
proof to have regard to the words of Lord Bingham in R v Sunderland City 
Council ex parte Beresford [2004] as follows :

‘It is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land , whether in public or private 
ownership registered as a town green….It is accordingly necessary that all 
ingredients of the definition should be met before land is registered and 
decision makers must consider carefully whether the land in question has 
been used by inhabitants of the locality for indulgence in what are properly to 
be regarded as lawful sports and pastimes and whether the temporal limit of 
20 years’ indulgence or more is met.’

Page 48



Ownership

24. The Application Land is unregistered but is believed to be in the ownership of 
the Diocese of Leeds.

Overall Conclusions 

26. There are a number of issues which need to be tested and considered. It is 
considered that the threshold for holding a Non- Statutory Public Inquiry has 
been met.  

Recommendation:

27. It is recommended that Members resolve to:

Note the Application and delegate authority to the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services to instruct an independent specialist barrister to hold a 
Non-Statutory Public Inquiry to consider the Application and thereafter 
prepare a report to Members of the Highways Committee which makes a 
recommendation to Members in respect of the Application. 

Contact: Clare Cuskin Tel: 03000 269723

Page 49



Implications of decision

Finance – There will be a cost to the Authority in holding a Non-Statutory Public 
Inquiry. 

Staffing - none

Risk – there is a potential risk of legal challenge.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - none identified

Accommodation - none

Crime and Disorder - none

Human Rights – the recommended decision is in line with domestic legislation and is 
Human Rights Act compliant.  The parties have been afforded an opportunity to make 
representations and will be able to speak at the Committee Meeting.

Consultation – the application has been publicised in accordance with the legislation  

Procurement – a procurement process will need to be followed in instructing a 
barrister should Members resolve to follow Officer recommendation.

Disability Issues - none

Legal Implications – there is a potential for challenge by an aggrieved party by way 
of Judicial Review.

Page 50



Page 51

Michael.Turnbull_5
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 1



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 59

Michael.Turnbull_6
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 61

Michael.Turnbull_7
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 3



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 81

Michael.Turnbull_8
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 4



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121

Michael.Turnbull_9
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 5



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141

Michael.Turnbull_10
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 6



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149

Michael.Turnbull_11
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 7



Page 150



Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 153

Michael.Turnbull_12
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 8



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



	 1	

IN	THE	MATTER	OF:	
	

ROMALDKIRK	VILLAGE	GREEN	
	

____________________________________________	
	

ADVICE	
____________________________________________	

	
	

1. I	 am	 asked	 to	 advise	 in	 relation	 to	 a	 parcel	 of	 land	 that	 lies	within	 the	

parish	of	Romaldkirk	and	upon	which	a	dispute	has	arisen	in	respect	of	its	

registration	as	a	village	green.	

	

2. In	summary,	I	am	of	the	view	that	in	following	the	statutory	trail,	that	the	

deed	 no	 longer	 applies	 and	 therefore	 absent	 any	 other	 evidence	 to	 the	

contrary	 it	 is	 not	 adverse	 to	 the	 “as	 of	 right”	 argument	 to	 prevent	

registration.		

	

BACKGROUND	

	

3. The	 issue	 stems	 right	 back	 to	 1967	when	 various	 parcels	 of	 land	were	

registered	as	 a	 village	 green	under	 the	Commons	Registration	Act	1965	

where	unfortunately	a	parcel	of	 land	was	missed	off	due	to	the	 fact	 that	

the	plan	submitted	had	been	a	mis-drawn	and	therefore	did	not	include	it	

for	registration.	

	

4. I	 have	 seen	 various	 photographs	 and	 plans	 highlighting	 the	 location	 of	

this	 parcel	 and	 in	 addition	 undertaken	 examination	 using	 the	 Google	

Earth	software.	

	

5. In	 February	 2016	 Romaldkirk	 Parish	 Council	 (RPC)	 attempted	 to	 have	

this	parcel	 of	 land	 registered	as	 a	 village	 green	but	met	with	objections	

inter	alia	from	the	owners	of	the	property	known	as	Rose	Style	Cottage;	of	

which	this	parcel	of	land	adjoins.	

	

Page 169

Michael.Turnbull_13
Typewritten text
APPENDIX 9



	 2	

6. A	document	had	come	to	light	being	a	deed	of	settlement	made	in	1930.	In	

essence,	this	deed	was	made	by	the	owner	at	the	time,	of	various	parcels	

of	land	in	Romaldkirk.		I	can	only	assume	the	parcel	of	land	in	question	is	

encompassed	 in	 this	 deed	 and	 therefore	 for	 present	 purposes	 I	 will	

assume	 the	 deed	 applies.	 Those	 requesting	 this	 advice	 have	 no	 doubt	

considered	this	point	and	I	have	received	no	instructions	that	it	does	not.	

	

7. The	deed	itself	gives	permission	to	the	public	to	have	access	over	and	on	

this	and	other	parcels	of	 land	and	to	use	as	 if	 it	was	a	village	green	and	

such	 rights	 were	 enshrined	 in	 section	 193	 of	 the	 Law	 of	 Property	 Act	

1925.	

	

8. There	is	then	further	a	 letter	dated	11	February	1997	whereby	the	then	

Lord	of	 the	Manor	 in	 effect	 handed	over	 the	management,	maintenance	

and	husbandry	of	the	village	greens	to	the	local	parish	council.1	

	

9. After	 the	application	was	submitted,	a	 letter	was	received	 from	Durham	

County	 Council	 dated	 11	May	 2018,	which	was	 acting	 as	 the	 Commons	

Registration	Authority	in	determining	the	said	application.	

	

10. In	that	letter	they	expressly	state	that	they	have	some	concerns	about	the	

application	and	in	particular	whether	the	land	has	been	used,	"as	of	right".	

This	they	define	as	use	of	the	land	without	force,	secrecy	or	permission.2	

	

11. Their	concern	primarily	relates	to	the	aforementioned	deed	and	thus	the	

granting	of	 the	permission	 to	use	 this	and	other	parcel	of	 land.	As	such,	

this	would	obviously	negate	the	use	of	the	 land,	"as	of	right"	since	there	

would	be	permission.	

	

12. The	 question	 posed	 therefore	 is	 whether	 the	 deed	 has	 resulted	 in	

permission	and	therefore	prevents	registration	of	the	village	green	by	the	

																																																								
1	I	 am	 not	 of	 the	 opinion	 this	 takes	 the	 matter	 any	 further	 since	 it	 provides	 no	 permission,	
2	And	are	correct.		

Page 170



	 3	

local	council	in	that	the	criteria	set	down	in	section	15(1)	of	the	Commons	

Act	2006	namely	the	“as	of	right”	aspect	has	not	been	so	satisfied.		

	

Town	or	village	greens	

	

13. Legislation	has	recognised	the	significance	of	these	areas	since	1845	but	

was	considerably	enhanced	by	registration	requirements	imposed	by	the	

Commons	 Registration	 Act	 1965	 (“CRA”).	 The	 act	 required	 the	

registration	of	 land,	which	is	a	town	or	village	green	and	provided	three	

classes	of	greens.	

	

i) Class,	A	which	had	been	 allotted	by	under	 any	 act	 the	 exercise	 a	

recreation	of	the	inhabitants	of	any	locality.	

ii) Class	 B	 land	 on	 which	 the	 inhabitants	 of	 any	 locality	 have	 a	

customary	rights	to	indulge	in	lawful	sports	and	pastimes	

iii) Class	 C	 land	 on	 which	 the	 not	 less	 than	 20	 years	 a	 significant	

number	 of	 inhabitants	 of	 any	 locality	 or	 any	 neighbourhood	 or	

neighbourhoods	 within	 a	 locality	 have	 indulged	 in	 lawful	 sports	

and	 pastimes	 as	 of	 right	 and	 either	 continue	 to	 do	 so	 or	 have	

ceased	 to	 do	 so	 from	 not	 more	 than	 such	 period	 as	 may	 be	

prescribed	determined	in	accordance	with	prescribed	provisions.	

	

14. Land	 capable	 of	 being	 registered	 as	 a	 town	 or	 village	 green	 had	 to	 be	

registered	before	August	1970	and	applications	for	registration	had	to	be	

made	 before	 3	 January	 1970.	 Failure	 to	 register	 was	 conclusive	 and	

extinguished	such	rights	and	recreation	as	were	registrable	at	that	date.	It	

appears	 that	 claims	 to	 Class	 A	 and	B	 greens	which	were	 not	 registered	

ceased	to	become	tenable	after	January	2	1970.3	

	

15. However	there	remains	the	possibility	that	land	may	have	become	a	town	

or	village	green	after	2	January	1970	and	that	is	where	a	claim	is	made	for	

a	new	class	C	green	based	on	20	years	user	as	of	right.	
																																																								
3	R	v	Oxfordshire	CC	ex	p	Sunningwell	PC	[2000]	1	AC	335	at	348	

Page 171



	 4	

	

16. This	 was	 authoritatively	 stated	 by	 Lord	 Hoffmann	 giving	 the	 leading	

judgment	in	Oxfordshire	County	Council	v	Oxford	City	Council4		 that	the	20	

years’	user	was	necessary	to	establish	a	modern	green.	

	

Registration	of	a	New	Village	Green	

	

17. 	The	current	application	as	referred	to	above	was	made	under	section	15	

of	the	Commons	Act	2006	which	states:	

	

	(1)	Any	person	may	apply	to	the	commons	registration	authority	to	register	

land	to	which	this	Part	applies	as	a	town	or	village	green	 in	a	case	where	

subsection	(2),	(3)	or	(4)	applies.	

(2)	This	subsection	applies	where–	

(a)	 a	 significant	 number	 of	 the	 inhabitants	 of	 any	 locality,	 or	 of	 any	

neighbourhood	within	a	locality,	have	indulged	as	of	right	in	lawful	sports	

and	pastimes	on	the	land	for	a	period	of	at	least	20	years;	and	

(b)	they	continue	to	do	so	at	the	time	of	the	application.	

(3)	This	subsection	applies	where–	

(a)	 a	 significant	 number	 of	 the	 inhabitants	 of	 any	 locality,	 or	 of	 any	

neighbourhood	within	a	 locality,	 indulged	as	of	 right	 in	 lawful	 sports	and	

pastimes	on	the	land	for	a	period	of	at	least	20	years;	

(b)	 they	 ceased	 to	 do	 so	 before	 the	 time	 of	 the	 application	 but	 after	 the	

commencement	of	this	section;	and	

(c)	the	application	is	made	within	[the	relevant	period]	 

	

18. The	 application	 in	 this	 case	 is	 based	 upon	 subsection	 (2)	 and	 therefore	

must	satisfy	the	relevant	criteria.	

	

19. As	 referred	 to	 above,	 the	 issue	 in	 this	 case	 is	 the	 phrase	 “as	 of	 right”.	 I	

have	not	been	asked	to	comment	on	any	other	of	the	criteria	indeed	this	

was	seem	otiose	as	the	application	has	already	been	submitted.	
																																																								
4	[2006]	UKHL	25	at	para	18	and	43	

Page 172



	 5	

The	Deed	

	

20. It	is	worth	at	this	juncture	setting	out	section	193	of	the	Law	of	Property	

Act	1925.	

	

(1) Members	of	the	public	shall,	subject	as	hereinafter	provided,	have	rights	

of	 access	 for	 air	 and	 exercise	 to	 any	 land	 which	 is	 a	 metropolitan	

common	within	the	meaning	of	 the	Metropolitan	Commons	Acts,	1866	

to	1898,	or	manorial	waste,	 or	a	 common,	which	 is	wholly	or	partly	

situated	 within	 [an	 area	 which	 immediately	 before	 1st	 April	 1974	

was]	a	 borough	 or	 urban	 district,	 and	 to	 any	 land	 which	 at	 the	

commencement	of	this	Act	is	subject	to	rights	of	common	and	to	which	

this	 section	may	 from	 time	 to	 time	 be	 applied	 in	manner	 hereinafter	

provided:	

	

Provided	that—	

(a)		such	 rights	 of	 access	 shall	 be	 subject	 to	 any	 Act,	 scheme,	 or	

provisional	 order	 for	 the	 regulation	 of	 the	 land,	 and	 to	 any	 byelaw,	

regulation	 or	 order	 made	 thereunder	 or	 under	 any	 other	 statutory	

authority;	and	

(b)			the	Minister	shall,	on	the	application	of	any	person	entitled	as	lord	

of	 the	 manor	 or	 otherwise	 to	 the	 soil	 of	 the	 land,	 or	 entitled	 to	 any	

commonable	 rights	affecting	 the	 land,	 impose	 such	 limitations	on	and	

conditions	as	to	the	exercise	of	the	rights	of	access	or	as	to	the	extent	of	

the	land	to	be	affected	as,	in	the	opinion	of	the	Minister,	are	necessary	

or	desirable	 for	preventing	any	estate,	right	or	 interest	of	a	profitable	

or	beneficial	nature	in,	over,	or	affecting	the	land	from	being	injuriously	

affected,	 [for	 conserving	 flora,	 fauna	 or	 geological	 or	 physiographical	

features	of	the	land,	]	or	for	protecting	any	object	of	historical	interest	

and,	where	any	such	limitations	or	conditions	are	so	imposed,	the	rights	

of	access	shall	be	subject	thereto;	and		

Page 173



	 6	

(c)		such	 rights	 of	 access	 shall	 not	 include	 any	 right	 to	 draw	 or	 drive	

upon	 the	 land	 a	 carriage,	 cart,	 caravan,	 truck,	 or	 other	 vehicle,	 or	 to	

camp	or	light	any	fire	thereon;	and	

(d)		the	rights	of	access	shall	cease	to	apply—	

(i)		to	 any	 land	 over	 which	 the	 commonable	 rights	 are	

extinguished	under	any	statutory	provision;	

(ii)			 to	 any	 land	 over	 which	 the	 commonable	 rights	 are	 otherwise	

extinguished	 if	 the	 council	 of	 the	 county	 [,	 county	 borough][or	

metropolitan	 district][…]	in	 which	 the	 land	 is	 situated	 by	 resolution	

assent	 to	 its	 exclusion	 from	 the	 operation	 of	 this	 section,	 and	 the	

resolution	is	approved	by	the	Minister.	

	

(2) The	 lord	of	 the	manor	or	other	person	entitled	 to	 the	 soil	 of	any	

land	 subject	 to	 rights	 of	 common	 may	 by	 deed,	 revocable	 or	

irrevocable,	declare	 that	 this	 section	shall	apply	 to	 the	 land,	and	

upon	such	deed	being	deposited	with	 the	Minister	 the	 land	shall,	

so	 long	 as	 the	 deed	 remains	 operative,	 be	 land	 to	 which	 this	

section	applies.	

	

21. The	deed	in	this	case	quite	clearly	has	been	undertaken	under	subsection	

2	above	and	I	see	no	reason	as	to	why	it	does	not	satisfy	the	requirement	

to	 be	 deposited	 with	 the	 Minister.	 There	 is	 however	 a	 number	 of	

definitions	within	s.193	that	need	to	be	briefly	looked	at	in	my	view.	

	

22. Manorial	 waste	 in	 subsection	 2	 has	 been	 examined	 in	 the	 case	 of	

Hampshire	CC	v	Milburn5	and	as	a	small	history	lesson	stated:	

	

“The	 manorial	 system	 which	 the	 Normans	 partly	 inherited	 and	 partly	

established	 displayed	 a	 variety	 of	 local	 laws	 and	 customs	 but	 in	 general	

there	 were	 three	 categories	 of	 land	 comprised	 in	 a	 manor.	 The	 demesne	

land	 belonged	 to	 the	 lord	 of	 the	 manor.	 The	 copyhold	 land	 was	 divided	

between	 the	 tenants	 of	 the	 lord	 of	 the	manor.	 The	 remainder	 of	 the	 land	
																																																								
5	[1991]	1	AC	325	

Page 174



	 7	

consisted	of	uncultivated	land,	referred	to	as	the	waste	of	the	manor.	The	

waste	 land	was	 the	 natural	 source	 of	 grazing,	 fodder	 and	 fuel	 for	 all	 the	

inhabitants	of	the	manor.	The	waste	land	belonged	to	the	lord	of	the	manor	

subject	to	the	rights	of	the	tenants	to	enjoy	in	common	the	fruits	or	some	of	

the	fruits	of	the	soil	in	the	manner	of	a	'profit	à	prendre.'	The	rights	of	the	

commoners	 varied	 from	 manor	to	manor.	 The	 extent	 of	 the	 right	 of	 any	

particular	commoner	depended	on	the	origin	of	the	right	and	might	depend	

on	the	size	and	situation	of	land	held	by	the	commoner.”	

	

23. There	appears	to	be	no	dispute	the	land	in	question	is	waste	of	the	manor.	

	

24. Returning	to	section	193	subsection	(d)(i)	states:	

(d)		the	rights	of	access	shall	cease	to	apply—	

(i)		to	any	 land	over	which	 the	commonable	 rights	are	extinguished	under	

any	statutory	provision	

	

25. “Commonable	 rights”	 are	 rights	 of	 common,	 which	 have	 their	 origin	 in	

local	custom.	These	rights	are	exercisable	together	with,	or	"in	common",	

with	others.	I	am	not	of	the	view	that	for	the	purpose	of	this	advice	there	

is	a	dispute	as	to	what	this	means.	

	

26. Thus	did	the	rights	conferred	by	the	deed	in	1930	cease	under	the	1965	

act?	

	

27. In	my	view	they	did	and	it	is	simply	a	means	of	statutory	interpretation.		

	

28. Section	193	 states	 towards	 the	 end	of	 the	 first	 subparagraph,	 “Provided	

that	–"	and	then	lists	four	subparagraphs	the	latter	one	being	divided	into	

two.		

	

29. As	referred	to	above	subsection	d(i)	states		

	

the	right	of	access	shall	cease	to	apply	–	

Page 175



	 8	

(i) to	 any	 land	 over	 which	 the	 commonable	 rights	 are	 extinguished	

under	any	statutory	provision.	

	

30. First	 of	 all	 it	 states,	 "any	 land”	 over	 which	 commonable	 rights	 are	

extinguished	and	would	therefore	include	manorial	waste	land.		

	

31. Secondly	 the	 ability	 to	 grant	 such	 rights	 is	 an	 express	 statutory	 right	

under	 subsection	 2	 where	 the	 Lord	 of	 the	 Manor	 was	 able	 by	 deed	 to	

declare	such	rights	were	available.	 In	addition,	 that	subsection	gives	 the	

Lord	of	the	Manor	the	ability	to	declare	that	section	193	applies	by	stating		

“…declare	 that	 this	 section	shall	apply	 to	 the	 land…”.	 In	 the	deed	 this	

occurs	in	the	second	clause	1.	That	must	mean	all	of	the	section	including	

(d)(i)	and	thus	acknowledge,	in	my	view,	that	there	was	a	possibility	that	

a	statute	may	remove	such	granted	rights.		

	

32. In	my	opinion,	 the	 fact	 that	 the	proviso	 in	 respect	of	 extinguishment	by	

statutory	provision	 is	a	 forward	 looking	clause,	means	 that	quite	clearly	

Parliament	had	intended	that	such	rights	could	be	extinguish	in	the	future	

should	such	a	statute	come	into	force.	If	rights	created	by	a	deed	were	not	

to	be	so	extinguished	I	would	have	expected	a	draftsman	to	have	included	

a	clause	clearly	stating	those	rights	formed	out	of	the	deed	would	not	be	

so	 affected	by	 any	 future	 statutory	provision	 –	 they	did	not.	 Indeed	 the	

circle	 completes	 itself	 by	 the	 subparagraph	 (d)	 and	 reference	 to	 “any	

land”.6	

	

33. Moving	 on;	 the	 statute	 that	 extinguished	 such	 rights	 is	 the	 Commons	

Registration	Act	1965.	

	

34. The	CRA	 1965	introduced	 a	 new	 regime	 for	 identifying	 common	 land,	

town	and	village	 greens	 and	 rights	 of	 common.	The	CRA	1965	 followed	

the	report	of	 the	Royal	Commission	on	Common	Land	(1955-58),	which	

emphasised	the	importance	of	open	spaces.		
																																																								
6	I	will	return	to	the	saving	provision	in	the	Commons	Registration	Act	1965	later		

Page 176



	 9	

	

35. The	main	purpose	of	the	CRA	1965	was	to	preserve	and	improve	common	

land	and	town	and	village	greens,	some	of	which	were	in	danger	of	being	

encroached	upon	by	developers	because	of	legal	and	factual	uncertainties	

as	 to	 their	 status	 or	 ownership.	 There	 was	 also	 an	 issue	 that	 because	

ownership	was	often	unclear,	 it	was	difficult	 to	establish	whose	consent	

was	needed	for	improvements	to,	or	maintenance	of,	the	land.	

	

36. The	CRA	1965	imposed	a	duty	on	county	councils	to	maintain	registers	of	

common	 land	 and	 town	 and	 village	 greens,	 together	with	details	 of	 any	

rights	claimed	over	such	land	and	the	ownership	of	them.	

	

37. Registrations	were	required	 to	be	made	under	 the	CRA	1965	by	31	 July	

1970	and	any	objections	to	a	registration	had	to	be	made	within	a	further	

two	years.	A	registration	became	final	if	either	there	was	no	objection	or	

any	objection	was	determined.	

	

38. If	land	was	eligible	for	registration,	either	as	common	land	or	as	a	town	or	

village	 green,	 but	 was	 not	 registered	 by	 31	 July	 1970,	 it	 ceased	 to	 be	

common	 land	or	a	green.	Rights	of	common	that	were	not	registered	by	

31	July	1970	were	no	longer	exercisable.	

	

39. Section	1	of	the	Act	stated:	

(1)	There	shall	be	registered,	 in	accordance	with	the	provisions	of	this	Act	

and	subject	to	the	exceptions	mentioned	therein,—	

(a)	 land	 in	England	 or	Wales	which	 is	 common	 land	 or	 a	 town	or	 village	

green;	

(b)	rights	of	common	over	such	land;	and	

(c)	persons	claiming	to	be	or	found	to	be	owners	of	such	land	or	becoming	

the	owners	thereof	by	virtue	of	this	Act;	

and	 no	 rights	 of	 common	 over	 land	 which	 is	 capable	 of	 being	 registered	

under	this	Act	shall	be	registered	[in	the	register	of	title]		

	

Page 177



	 10	

(2)	After	 the	 end	 of	 such	period,	 not	 being	 less	 than	 three	 years	 from	 the	

commencement	of	this	Act,	as	the	Minister	may	by	order	determine—	

(a)	no	land	capable	of	being	registered	under	this	Act	shall	be	deemed	to	be	

common	land	or	a	town	or	village	green	unless	it	is	so	registered;	and	

(b)	no	rights	of	common	shall	be	exercisable	over	any	such	land	unless	they	

are	registered	either	under	this	Act	or	[in	the	register	of	title]		

	

40. The	 Court	 of	 Appeal	 commented	 on	 the	 legislation	 in	 respect	 of	 such	

registration	7and	held	that:	

	

“First,	there	can	be	no	doubt	that	the	1965	Act	was	intended	to	establish	a	

register	 which	 was	 definitive	 –	 see	 paragraph	 [283]	 of	 the	 Report	 of	 the	

Royal	 Commission	 and	 the	 Explanatory	 Notes	 to	 the	 Commons	 Act	 2006,	

cited	 by	 Lewison	 LJ	 at	 paragraphs	 [114]	 and	 [115]	 respectively	 below.	

Because	section	13	of	the	1965	Act	expressly	contemplated	that	land	could	

subsequent	 to	 the	 registration	 exercise	 envisaged	 by	 the	 Act	 become	

common	land,	whereas	hitherto	it	had	not	been	common	land,	the	register	

could	 plainly	 not	 be	 definitive	 of	 the	 extent	 of	 common	 land.	 But	 a	more	

modest	ambition	would	have	been	 to	produce	a	 register	definitive	of	 land	

which,	 as	 at	 the	 conclusion	 of	 the	 registration	 exercise,	 was	 at	 that	 time	

both	capable	of	being	registered	as	common	land	and	had	been	registered	

as	such,	and	definitive	of	the	rights	exercisable	over	such	land	as	had	been	

so	registered.	It	seems	reasonable	to	ascribe	this	ambition	to	Parliament,	for	

unless	 the	 registration	 exercise	 introduced	by	 the	Act	 had	 this	 effect,	 that	

exercise	was	of	dubious	utility.”8	

		

41. The	court	continued;	

	

“Second,	the	natural	meaning	of	both	sub-sections	of	section	1	of	the	1965	

Act	seems	to	me	entirely	in	accord	with	this	clear	objective.	All	 land	which	

was	at	the	operative	date	common	land,	and	all	rights	of	common	over	such	

																																																								
7	R.	(on	the	application	of	Littlejohns)	v	Devon	CC	[2016]	EWCA	Civ	446	
8	Ibid	at	101	

Page 178



	 11	

land	 then	 existing,	 were	 to	 be	 registered	 –	 sub-section	 (1).	 After	 the	

operative	 date,	 land	 which	 was	 common	 land	 but	 which	 had	 not	 been	

registered	 as	 such	 would	 no	 longer	 be	 regarded	 as	 common	 land	 –	 or	

deemed	 to	 be	 such	 –	 and	 no	 rights	 of	 common	 which	 had	 not	 been	

registered	could	 thenceforth	be	exercised	over	 land	 registered	as	 common	

land.”	

	

42. The	court	had	previously	commented	that:	

	

“Authority	indicates	that	they	[section	1(2)]	have	the	effect	of	extinguishing	

an	 existing	 right	 in	 the	 light	 of	section	 22(1)	of	 the	 1965	Act	 and	sections	

193	 and	 194	 of	 the	 Law	 of	 Property	 Act	 1925	:	 see	Central	 Electricity	

Generating	Board	v	Clwyd	County	Council	[1976]	1	WLR	151	,	esp.	at	155–

156,	 Corpus	 Christi	 College	 v	 Gloucestershire	 County	 Council	 [1983]	 1	 QB	

360	 ,	 370F;	 and	 comp.	Oxfordshire	 County	 Council	 v	 Oxford	 City	 Council	

[2006]	2	AC	674	(a	case	on	registration	of	a	town	or	village	green	under	the	

1965	Act)	at	688.	That	is	entirely	consistent	with	the	Littlejohns'	case	that	

the	purpose	of	section	1(2)	was	to	require	the	registration	of	common	land	

and	 rights	 of	 common	 as	 existed	 at	 (in	 the	 event)	 2	 January	 1970	 if	 they	

were	 to	 be	 valid	 and	 exercisable.	 The	 extinction	 of	 the	 previously	 valid	

rights	of	common	was	the	sanction	for	non-registration.”9	

	

43. The	House	of	Lords	in	the	case	of	Oxfordshire	County	Council	v	Oxford	City	

Council	and	another10	held	that:	

	

“On	 the	 other	 hand,	 by	section	 10	11,	 the	 registration	 of	 land	 as	 common	

land	 or	 as	 a	 town	 or	 village	 green	 was	 to	 be	 “conclusive	 evidence	 of	 the	

matters	registered,	as	at	the	date	of	registration”.	So	the	register	was	to	be	

definitive,	 both	 positively	 and	 negatively:	 registration	 was	

																																																								
9	Para	77	
10	[2006]	UKHL	25	
11	The	registration	under	this	Act	of	any	land	as	common	land	or	as	a	town	or	village	green,	or	of	
any	rights	of	common	over	any	such	land,	shall	be	conclusive	evidence	of	the	matters	registered,	
as	at	the	date	of	registration,	except	where	the	registration	is	provisional	only.	

Page 179



	 12	

conclusive	evidence	 that	 on	 that	 date	 it	 was	 a	 town	 or	 village	 green	 and	

non-registration	was	conclusive	evidence	that	it	was	not.”12	

 

44. In	other	words,	 the	Act	was	meant	 to	be	an	all-encompassing	 statute	 in	

respect	of	registration	of	common	land	and	those	rights	over	 it.	To	have	

exceptions	such	as	those	rights	created	by	deed	would	not	have	produced	

such	a	definitive	register	as	envisaged	by	Parliament.	As	such,	the	rights	

contained	 in	 the	 deed	 over	 this	 parcel	 of	 land	 must	 have	 been	

extinguished	due	to	the	fact	they	were	not	registered	by	the	appropriate	

time.		

 

Saving	Provision	

	

45. As	 if	 there	 was	 any	 more	 complication	 needed,	 section	 21	 of	 the	 CRA	

states	this:	

	

	Section	 1(2)	of	 this	 Act	 shall	 not	 affect	 the	 application	 to	 any	 land	

registered	 under	 this	 Act	 of	section	 193	 or	 section	 194	of	 the	Law	 of	

Property	Act	1925	(rights	of	access	to,	and	restriction	on	inclosure	of,	 land	

over	which	rights	of	common	are	exercisable).	

	

46. The	court	in	Central	Electric	above	held	that	the	saving	provision:13	

	

Now	section	193	 (1)	 (d)	of	 the	Law	of	Property	Act	1925	is	a	proviso	 that	

“the	rights	of	access	shall	cease	to	apply	—	(i)	 to	any	 land	over	which	the	

commonable	 rights	 are	 extinguished	 under	 any	 statutory	 provision.”	

And	section	194	(3)	has	a	proviso	that	the	section	“shall	cease	to	apply	(	a	)	

to	 any	 land	 over	which	 the	 rights	 of	 common	are	 extinguished	under	 any	

statutory	provision.”	It	 is	to	those	two	provisions	that	the	saving	in	section	

21	of	the	Act	of	1965	is	clearly	directed,	and	the	significance	is	that	whilst	

section	 1	 (2)	 (b)	 of	 the	 Act	 of	 1965	 refers	 only	 to	 the	 rights	 not	 being	

																																																								
12	Ibid	at	para	19	
13	[1976]	1	WLR	151	at	155/156	

Page 180



	 13	

exercisable,	 it	 is	saved	from	operating	under	the	provisions	 in	sections	193	

and	 194	 of	 the	 Law	 of	 Property	 Act	 1925	which	 refer	 to	 the	 rights	 being	

extinguished;	 and	 therefore	 clearly	 the	 legislature	 was	 contemplating	

section	1	(2)	(b)	of	 the	Act	of	1965	as	working	an	extinguishment.	That	 is	

emphasised	by	the	parenthesis	in	section	21	(1)	which	reads	as	a	definition	

of	the	relevant	parts	of	sections	193	and	194	of	the	Act	of	1925	as	follows:	

“rights	of	access	to,	and	restriction	on	inclosure	of,	land	over	which	rights	of	

common	are	exercisable.”	

	

47. Thus	the	legislation	recognised	that	when	registering	land	under	the	CRA	

there	is	somewhat	of	a	distinction	between	the	land	itself	and	rights	over	

the	land.	14	

	

48. What	the	saving	provisions	does	therefore,	is	that	if	the	land	is	registered	

this	section	preserves	those	rights	under	s.193	that	accompanied	it	but	of	

course	 the	 land	 itself	has	 to	be	 registered	under	 the	CRA.	 In	 this	 case	 it	

has	not	been.	

	

49. The	definition	of	manorial	waste	in	the	CRA	is	that:	

	

1)	 In	 this	 Act,	 unless	 the	 context	 otherwise	 requires,	“common	

land”	means—		

(a)	…	

(b)	waste	land	of	a	manor	not	subject	to	rights	of	common;	

but	does	not	include	a	town	or	village	green	or	any	land	which	forms	part	of	

a	highway;	

	

50. The	section	still	requires	that	land	to	be	registered.	In	this	case	it	was	not	

and	therefore	in	my	view	it	is	not	so	saved	and	remains	extinguished.	

	

	

																																																								
14	Although	not	manorial	waste	land	–	see	below.		

Page 181



	 14	

James Kemp 
	

James	Kemp	
Trinity	Chambers	

18th	June	2018	
	

	
	

	

	

	

Page 182


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meetings held on 11 June and 5 July 2018
	Minutes , 05/07/2018 Highways Committee

	5 Public Footpath No. 39 Evenwood and Barony Parish - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Document A
	Document B
	Document C
	Cllr Smith response.pdf (p.1-2)
	Parish response.pdf (p.3-4)
	Ramblers withdrawal.pdf (p.5)

	Document D_redacted
	Correspondence with jo bird.pdf (p.1-5)
	2018 06 15 0bjection from OSS Jo Bird.pdf (p.6-7)

	Document E - Briefing note
	DocumentF_redacted

	6 Application NL43 for Village Green Registration - Romaldkirk, County Durham - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7
	Appendix 8
	Appendix 9


